

Hisham Gad MSC MSC Step into the World of Research





Author:

Hisham Gad MSc Centre Hospitalier de Bayeux Service de Chirurgie Orthopédique et Traumatologique 13, rue de Nesmond 14400 Bayeux France hichamgad@yahoo.fr

Published By:

MedCrave Group LLC February 29, 2016

Contents

Abbreviations	1
Introduction	2
Figure 1	
Risk factors	3
Age	
Sex and race	
Falls	
Diagnosis	4
Figure 2	
Figure 3	
Figure 4	
Figure 5	
Treatment	5
Hip prosthesis with or without cement	-
Figure 6	
Osteosynthesis using a Screw and a femoral nail or plate	
Figure 7	
Timing of Surgery	7
Postoperative Care and Complications	8
Pain control	J. J
Blood loss	
Stockings and anticoagulants	
Delirium	
Depression	
Physiotherapy	
Weight bearing	
Prevention of pressure ulcers (PU)	
Figure 8	
Urinary retention	
Urinary infection	
Constipation	
Lung infection	
Infection of the wound	
Fracture displacement	
Figure 9	
Prosthesis dislocation	
Nerve injury	
Femoral fracture	
Figure 10	
Functional Results	13
Table 1	

Special Types of Hip Fractures

Stress fracture of the femoral neck (SFFN)

Isolated fracture of the greater trochanter

Isolated fracture of the lesser trochanter

Pathological fractures

Bone tumours

Malignant tumours

Metastatic tumours

Genetic disorders

Metabolic disorders

Other causes of pathological fractures

Atypical femoral fractures

Major features

Minor features

Conclusion

References

15

17

18

Abbreviations

HF: Hip Fractures FNF: Femoral Neck Fracture AVN: Avascular Necrosis DVT: Deep Venous Thrombosis LMWH: Low Molecular Weight Heparin VKA: Vitamin K Antagonists IPCD: Intermittent Pneumatic Compression Device PU: Pressure Ulcers SSI: Surgical Site Infection CRP: C Reactive Protein ESR: Erythrocyte Sedimentation Rate SFFN: Stress Fracture of the Femoral Neck



Introduction

Hip fractures (HF) are very common fractures and their frequency is increasing with time. They represent a social and economic problem worldwide. Approximately 330 000 hip fractures occur yearly in the United States [1]. This number is expected to range from 458,000 to 1,037,000 by 2050 [2].

Hip fractures are divided into 3 types: femoral neck, intertrochanteric and subtrochanteric fractures. Fractures of the femoral head, of the acetabulum and pelvic fractures are not included in this review (Figure 1).



Figure 1: Hip Joint

Risk factors

HF mostly affect elderly patients with osteoporosis following a simple fall, but it can also affect young patients with solid bone following high energy injuries such as road accidents. Risk factors of HF include.

Age

Normally, bone density decreases with age. At the level of the femoral neck, there is a normal decrease in bone density of about 53% in women and 35% in men [3,4]. Almost half of all hip fractures occur in patients aged 80 or over [5]. Another reason for higher frequency of HF in the elderly is that they are more liable to fall.

Sex and race

About 75% of HF occurs in women. This is due to osteoporosis following menopause [6]. HF is more common in white women.

Falls

Difficulty walking, balance and eye problems, mental illness such as Alzheimer disease and other health problems related to aging increase the risk of falling [7]. In North America, about 20% of women between 60-64 years and 33% of women between 80-84 years fall at least once per year. About 1% of these falls lead to a HF. If there is a direct impact on the hip area, the risk of a HF rises to 13% [3].



Diagnosis

A patient with a HF presents with pain in the groin and inability to walk. There is shortening of the affected limb with external rotation (Figure 2). A bruise in the hip region may or may not be present. Sometimes, in impacted un displaced fractures, patients are able to walk and there is no lower limb deformity.

Plain x-ray of the pelvis and the affected hip are usually sufficient to confirm the diagnosis,. If there is doubt, MRI is an excellent imaging tool to diagnose hidden hip fractures with 100 % specificity and sensitivity. It is superior to bone scan and CT scan. The only disadvantage of MRI is cost and availability [8]. It is to be noted that if a bone scan is used to diagnose a

hidden hip fracture, it may be normal up to 72 hours after a fracture [9,10].

According to the level of the fracture, we can divide HF into 3 types (Figure 1):

- I. Femoral neck fracture (FNF) which may be displaced (Figure 3) or undisplaced (Figure 4).
- II. Intertrochanteric fracture which cross in the area between the lesser trochanter and the greater trochanter (Figure 5).
- III.Subtrochanteric fracture: Below the lesser trochanter until an area 2 ½ inches below.

This distinction is essential as the treatment of each of these three types may differ.



Figure 2: A left femoral neck fracture with shortening and outward rotation of the left lower limb.



Figure 3: A displaced right FNF (Garden 4) in an 80-year-old patient treated with a femoral prosthesis.



Figure 4: A left undisplaced FNF treated with screw and plate.



Figure 5: A right intertrochanteric fracture treated with a gamma nail.

Treatment

Treatment of HF is surgical, as surgery is the only way to help these patients regain their autonomy and to avoid complications related to bed confinement. Even in bedridden patients, surgery will relief their pain and allows nursing in good conditions. Exceptionally, in severely ill and fragile patients, surgery may not be done. According to the type of HF, two methods of surgical treatment are available:

Hip prosthesis with or without cement

It is indicated in displaced FNF (Figure 3 & 6). Only the femoral side of the hip joint is replaced,. In most FNF, a femoral prosthesis is used. However, in patients suffering from osteoarthritis before the FN, a total hip replacement may be indicated. A total hip replacement may be also indicated in elderly patients who are active and independent [11] or whose life expectancy is more than 10 years [12] (Figure 6).



Figure 6: A displaced right FNF (Garden 4) in a 68-year-old active female patient treated with a total hip arthroplasty. This is because friction of a femoral prosthesis against the patient's acetabular cartilage will eventually lead to acetabular erosion. Acetabular erosion occurs much more rapidly in active patients. This is why some surgeons prefer doing a total hip prosthesis in these patients.

Osteosynthesis using a Screw and a femoral nail or plate (Figure 4,5,7)

Osteosynthesis is indicated in the following cases:

- I. Intertrochanteric and subtrochanteric fractures.
- II. Undisplaced FNF which represents about 15 % of FNF.
- III. Young patients with undisplaced and displaced FNF.

Arthroplasty following a FNF is indicated in displaced FNF because in these fractures the risk of avascular necrosis (AVN) of the femoral head is high, so the femoral head has to be replaced. On the other hand, in intertrochanteric and subtrochanteric fractures, blood vessels nourishing the femoral head and neck are preserved, so the head and neck could be fixed. There are some exceptions where we perform osteo synthesis in FNF instead of arthroplasty. Osteosynthesis is indicated in undisplaced FNF and FNF in younger patients.

In undisplaced FNF (Garden 1), osteosynthesis is possible, as the risk of non union and AVN is much less [13-15]. In younger patients with a displaced FNF, and in spite the risk of non-union and/or AVN, arthroplasty should be avoided. This is because in young active patients, wearing of hip prosthesis is much faster than in older patients. On the other hand, osteosynthesis in young patients will preserve the femoral neck and if AVN develops, hip replacement could be done. These patients will have gained some time. Moreover, patients with AVN after FNF may not require further treatment. [14] (Figure 7).



Figure 7: Osteosynthesis of a right displaced (Garden 4) FNF in a young male patient.

Timing of Surgery

According to different studies, it is better to operate elderly patients with HF within 24 hours. Early surgery offers a better functional outcome and a lower rate of complications and death rate after surgery [16-19].

However, some studies found no effect of waiting time between injury and surgery on death rate [20,21] Moreover, operating elderly patients, who often suffer from associated illness, in an emergency setting is not always possible, as these patients often need preparation before surgery. In these patients, a delay of surgery does not result in a significant difference in death rate [22]. In a recent study, comparing two groups of patients, the first operated within 48 hours and the second operated after an average of 1 week from the fracture, no difference in death rate and functional recovery were found at 3 months and 1 year. However, the rate of complications (Pressure ulcers, UTI, DVT and length of hospital stay) was higher in the group with surgical delay [23].

In younger patients with displaced FNF, most studies recommend fracture fixation in the first 6 hours following the fracture, as this will give better results in terms of healing and AVN [24,25].

Here again, other studies showed comparable good results in patients operated beyond 24 hours of the fracture [13,26].

In fact, there are other factors that contribute to the development of non-union and AVN of the femoral head such as the importance of the initial fracture displacement as well as the quality of fracture reduction and fixation [13,14].



Postoperative Care and Complications

Our aim at this point is to control the pain following surgery, to start ambulation and to prevent and treat complications.

Pain control

Medications for pain started on admission are continued intravenously and then orally. Regional anesthesia using nerve blocks and catheters improves rehabilitation and decreases pain medications after surgery.

Blood loss

A significant number of patients will be transfused following surgery. Blood loss is caused by the fracture itself as well as by surgery. Sub trochanteric fractures tend to bleed more than other types of HF. Blood loss is calculated on the basis of hemoglobin concentration difference before and after the operation. Anemia is defined as blood hemoglobin concentration lower than 12 mg/dl in women and 13 mg/dl in men. Studies have shown that hemoglobin levels lower than 8 mg/ dl are associated with poor physical performance, poor functional recovery and increased death rate. In mild anemia, iron supplementation without transfusion may be enough [27].

Risk factors to develop anemia after a HF are advanced age, poor functional level before fracture, heart or lung disease, low hemoglobin level on admission, duration and degree of bleeding during surgery [28]. Other factors increasing the risk of blood loss include patients taking anticoagulants or aspirin before surgery, kidney disorder after surgery, stomach or intestinal bleeding. Blood loss may be less important if regional anesthesia is used [29,30].

Hemoglobin concentration may be overestimated in patients dehydrated before fracture, whereas fluid retention after surgery may underestimate hemoglobin concentration, exaggerating total blood loss [31]. Anemia has been associated with increased death in patients refusing transfusion [32] whereas transfusion has been associated with an increased risk of infection [31,33].

Stockings and anticoagulants

Deep venous thrombosis (DVT) prophylaxis is mandatory. Its risk increases with age. The risk is multiplied by 10 to 20 times after the age of 65 years [34-36]. Other risk factors are obesity, varicose veins, heart disease, stroke and cancer [37]. Signs of DVT are pain and swelling of the affected limb. Sometimes the only signs are fever or tachycardia. In about half of the patients with DVT, there are no signs. Signs of pulmonary embolism are chest pain, coughing and/or shortness of breath. Without treatment, the incidence of (DVT) following a HF is about 48 % and of lung embolism is 8 % [38]. With treatment, the incidence of DVT falls to about 10 % [38,39]. Prevention is through wearing stockings and giving anticoagulants. Recommended anticoagulants include low molecular weight heparin (LMWH), fondaparinux, low dose unfractionated heparin, vitamin K antagonists (VKA), aspirin or an intermittent pneumatic compression device (IPCD) [40]. Patients under low LMWH should have platelets count checked weekly. Several studies recommend continuation of anticoagulants for at least 3 weeks and up to 5 weeks [40-42].

Rarely, in patients in whom anticoagulants are contraindicated, mechanical compression devices may be used to enhance venous circulation. These devices have the potential advantage of reducing the incidence of VTE without the risk for increased bleeding [40]. According to different studies, these devices may significantly reduce the incidence of DVT [43]. Compliance remains a problem with the use of IPCDs. Moreover, properly functioning IPCDs were encountered in less than 50% in a study [44].

Newer portable devices are now available, and a recent study reported increased compliance (77.7% compared to 58.9%) [40,45]. However, anticoagulants remain the mainstay preventive measure against DVT and PE. Performing a Doppler ultrasound to search for silent DVT before discharge is not recommended, as this may lead to unnecessary anticoagulation for several months, resulting in a higher risk of bleeding complications [40].

Delirium

Delirium presents as a change in the patient's mental status with concentration and memory problems as well as changes in the sleep cycle during the first days following surgery. Stress related to surgery and anesthesia and change of the patient's surrounding environment increase the risk of delirium [46].

It is a common problem following hip fractures, estimated between 28% and 61 % [47]. Patients at risk to develop delirium are elderly patients, patients who already have mental or psychological problems before surgery and those operated under general anesthesia. Other factors include opiate medications, inadequate pain control, poor nutritional status and infection [10].

Delirium negatively affects functional results, increases the length of hospital stay and increases death rate after a hip fracture [47]. Certain measures may reduce the risk of development of delirium, such as adequate pain control, decreasing opiates, removing intravenous lines and catheters as soon as possible to decrease the risk of infection. Allowing patients to have an easy access to their eye glasses and their hearing aids, avoiding sleep interruptions, improving the ward environment, active nutrition, regular communication with the patient and the daily presence of family members could be of great help [10]. Delirium is a reversible condition with most patients recovering within 4 weeks. Only a small percentage extends beyond this period.



Depression

Incidence of depression rises with age. A study showed that it increased from 5.6 % at the age of 70 years to 13 % at the age of 85 years [48]. Following a HF, its incidence is about 14 % in patients with no history of depression [49]. Pain and anxiety after a HF increase the risk of depression [50]. Other risk factors of developing depression after a HF are poor mental health, decreased mobility before fracture and history of depression [50].

The first signs of depression appear within 2 weeks from surgery. It presents itself as lack of interest and motivation [51]. Lack of interest known as apathy following a HF is estimated at 37 % in a study [51]. It may cause less participation in physiotherapy programs leading to poorer functional recovery [51]. About 1/3 of these patients may recover after 2 weeks [51].

Physiotherapy

Physiotherapy is started as soon as possible to avoid complications related to bed confinement (Pressure sores, DVT, UTI and pneumonia). The intensity of rehabilitation depends on the patient's physical and mental function before the fracture. Patients will sit the day following surgery and will start supervised walking using one or two canes or a walker. If one cane is used it is be held with the hand opposite the fracture side [10].

Weight bearing

Weight bearing on the operated limb is usually allowed immediately after hip replacement. Following fixation of a FNF or an intertrochanteric fracture, weight bearing is usually allowed. However, in case of complex FNF fracture, very fragile bone or in case of doubt as for the quality of fixation weight bearing may not be allowed until 45 days after surgery. The same applies to sub trochanteric fractures.

Prevention of pressure ulcers (PU)

Pressure ulcers occur when there is prolonged compression of skin or underlying tissue between a bony prominence (such as the sacrum or heels) and an external surface (such as a mattress or chair seat), leading to impaired blood flow and depriving tissues of oxygen and nutrients [52,53] (Figure 8).

The main risk factor to develop a PU is immobility. That is why it is a common complication in patients with HF. Incidence of between 8.8 % and 55% has been reported. Other risk factors include poor nutritional status, dehydration, urinary incontinence, age of or above 71 years, poor mental status, bedridden patients, moist skin, diabetes, lung disease, low immunity, cortisone, lower limb vessel disease, long wait before surgery and intensive care unit stay [52-56].



Figure 8: Stage IV pressure ulcer following a hip fracture with exposed bone.

According to severity, PU is classified into four stages:

- i. Stage I: Intact skin with non-blanching redness.
- ii. Stage II: Shallow, open ulcer with red-pink wound bed.
- iii. Stage III: Full thickness tissue loss with visible subcutaneous fat.
- iv. Stage IV: Full thickness tissue loss with exposed muscle and bone (Figure 8).

Prevention of PU is through treating risk factors, caregiver education, patient frequent repositioning, keeping the head of the bed at the lowest safe elevation to prevent shear, using pressure-reducing surfaces or devices, assessing nutrition and providing supplementation, if needed. Despite preventive measures, some PU is unavoidable [53].

Treatment of PU depends on the stage: A protective dressing is used in stage I, a moist dressing in stage II and a moist to absorbent dressing in stages III and IV. If dressings are not effective in stages III and IV or if there is infection, topical or systemic antibiotics and surgical removal of infected and dead tissue may be needed [53,57].

Urinary retention

Urinary retention is common after a hip fracture. Up to 82% of patients may have urine retention before surgery [58,59]. It is more common and longer to resolve in elderly patients [60]. Causes include immobility, confusion, pain medications, anesthesia and opiates. These conditions may cause decreased awareness of bladder fullness, bladder over distension or an inability to void [61].

A urinary catheter placement will solve this problem, but it should be removed within 24-48 hours from surgery, as it may increase the risk of urinary retention after removal [10], as well as infection. A study showed that leaving a urinary catheter more than 48 hours doubled the incidence of urinary infection and increased death rate at 30 days from surgery. A catheter may also be needed in case of urinary incontinence or if fluid monitoring is needed [62].

Urinary infection

Urinary infection (UI) occurs in 12 to 53 % of HF patients. It is more common in women and its risk increases if a urinary catheter is placed [63]. It is also very common in diabetic patients following HF [64].

Urine infection must be treated with antibiotics as soon as it is diagnosed to avoid infection of the wound.

Constipation

Constipation is also a common problem especially in elderly patients. It is worsened by immobility and opiates use. Treatment is through diet modification, stool softeners and/or laxatives. At the same time, medications that contribute to constipation are stopped or decreased.

Lung infection

Immobility after surgery is a risk factor. Getting the patient out of bed with early physiotherapy and mobility reduces the risk of lung infection.

Infection of the wound

Surgical site infection (SSI) is a serious, life threatening complication in elderly patients. Infection is more common in diabetics, patients with inflammatory joint disease as Rheumatoid arthritis, malignancy, elderly, obese, patients with mental problems and those with poor medical condition [65]. Delay before surgery, duration of surgery more than 3 hours and previous surgery involving the same joint also have a negative effect [66]. Infection is more common with arthroplasty than with osteosynthesis [67].

The source of SSI may come from the patient's skin (Staphylococcus coagulase negative, Corynebacterium diphtheria, Propionibacterium acne), the patient's or medical staff nose (Staphylococcus aureus), a close or distant organ of the patient acting as a septic focus, such as Gram negative bacilli in urinary and digestive systems, and Streptococcus hemolyticus in the mouth and throat. Strict precautions are normally taken to decrease the risk of SSI including patient's preparation, protocols in the ward and in the operating room and administration of prophylactic antibiotics. Death rate rises if SSI develops. It may reach 50 % at 1 year following surgery [67].

Infection may be superficial or deep. Distinction between them is not always easy. Infection may be early, within 1 month following surgery, or late. The

most common bacteria found in SSI are staphylococcus aureus, staphylococcus epidermidis and pseudomonas aeruginosa [67,68]. Diagnosis is based on the presence of inflammation of the wound with or without oozing of pus and/or fever. Low grade fever after surgery as well as redness of the scar with a transparent or bloody oozing during the first days following surgery may be a normal finding. Sometimes, the clinical picture is less revealing and the only symptom present is persisting hip pain months after surgery.

Blood tests may show persistent rise of C reactive protein (CRP), hyperleucocytosis and increased erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR). The levels of these normally rise after surgery but should normalize within 3 weeks. They are not specific for SSI and may rise with infection or inflammation elsewhere in the body but with a suggestive clinical picture they may help in diagnosis of SSI. It is to be noted that normal levels of WBCs, CRP and ESR do not eliminate a SSI [69].

Serial measurements are useful for monitoring effectiveness of treatment. Gradual decrease of elevated WBCs, CRP and ESR until normalization reflects effective treatment of SSI. In case of doubt, diagnosis is confirmed by aspiration of synovial fluid. This aspiration is guided using ultrasound or CT scan. Germs may be found on direct examination or after culture. Culture should continue for at least 2 weeks. The presence of more than 1700 WBCs/mm3 and more than 65 % neutrophils (a type of WBCs) is highly suggestive of infection. Absence of bacteria does not eliminate infection.

X-rays of the hip may be normal in early infection. In chronic infection signs of infection such as bone destruction or loosening of the prosthesis may be seen. Bone scan (Scintigraphy) may be done to help in diagnosis. Bone scan with technetium may be abnormal in non infected prosthesis up to 12 months following surgery, so they are not reliable. On the other hand, bone scan with radio labelled WBCs has an accuracy of about 90 % [70].

Once diagnosis is confirmed, treatment should be undertaken as early as possible. Early treatment is essential for eradication of infection. Methods of treatment may vary from one patient to another, but also from one center to the other. However, there are common broad outlines for treatment. First, lavage and irrigation of the hip in the operating room with removal of infected tissue and taking biopsies for germ analysis are mandatory. If diagnosis of infection is early, i.e. within the first month after surgery, the prosthesis may not be removed. On the other hand, in late infections and infections evolving over a long period of time, the prosthesis must be removed, as infection is most probably present between the prosthesis and bone and simple irrigation would not be sufficient to eradicate it [69].

If the prosthesis is removed, a new prosthesis may

be implanted immediately after lavage or after a certain period of time to assure complete eradication of infection. This period may vary from 1 to 6 months. The new prosthesis is implanted after treatment with 2 or 3 antibiotics for 3 months in average and after normalization of WBCs, CRP and ESR levels in blood. Antibiotics used must be effective against the causative germs, have a good bone penetration and well tolerated by the patient. Some studies show comparable results of implanting the new prosthesis immediately or after 1 to 6 months with a success rate of about 80 to 90 % [69], whereas other studies showed disappointing results with immediate implantation of a new prosthesis with a success rate rarely exceeding 50 % [71].

If infection develops after osteosynthesis, irrigation with implant removal and antibiotic treatment are considered if the fracture has already healed. If the fracture has not healed yet, and infection is not severe, irrigation and antibiotic treatment may be done and then implants are removed after fracture healing. On the other hand, if infection is severe or if healing is not expected to occur, removal of implants may be done during the first operation. In this case, a prosthesis may be implanted later after elimination of infection.

Sometimes, in fragile patients, lavage and removal of the prosthesis or implants without reimplantation of a new prosthesis are done. This is called Girdle stone operation. Its inconvenience is considerable shortening of the lower limb and instability on walking.

In patients who are too fragile to be operated, suppressive antibiotics for a long period may be the only possible treatment available [72].

Fracture displacement

Fracture displacement may occur after osteosynthesis. Risk factors are complex fractures, bad positioning of fixation materials [73], osteoporosis and premature weight bearing.

In case of non union there will be either a fracture displacement or rupture of hardware, as there is a race between healing and rupture of hardware. Revision consists of removal of material and implanting a hip prosthesis. If a hip screw penetrates the hip joint and pierces the acetabulum, a total hip prosthesis is indicated as the acetabular cartilage will be compromised (Figure 9). Implanting a hip prosthesis following failed fixation is reliable with acceptable results, but the rate of complications may be high [74,75]. The nail and screw were removed and as the acetabular cartilage was destructed by the screw, a total hip prosthesis was placed

Prosthesis dislocation

- I. Incidence of dislocation with femoral prosthesis varies from 0.5 % to 3 % [76].
- II. The risk is higher with total hip prosthesis where it may reach up to 10 % [77-79].

- III. Using total hip prosthesis with double mobility significantly reduces this complication.
- IV. Risk factors include posterior surgical approach [80-83], inaccurate positioning of prosthetic components, patients suffering from neurological disease and patients with mental illness.

Nerve injury

This is a rare complication. Nerve injury causes sensitivity and/or motor problems. Sensitivity problems may be felt as tingling, numbness or burning. Nerves vulnerable to injury in hip fractures are the pudendal nerve, the femoral nerve, the sciatic nerve and the lateral cutaneous nerve of the thigh. The nerve is rather stretched or compressed than torn. This may occur either before surgery while applying traction on the lower limb to reduce the fracture, during surgery or after surgery due to a compressive hematoma. In the later case urgent surgery to evacuate the hematoma is indicated [84].

Rarely, a protruding part of a hip prosthesis or a fragment of cement may come in contact with a nerve, causing irritation [85]. Pudendal nerve injury is probably underestimated. Studies report an incidence of 2 to 15 % [86]. It usually occurs following traction on the orthopaedic table to reduce the fracture. It leads to sensitivity disorders in the area of the perineum and/or incontinence and sexual disorders [87].

In 90 % of cases injury is due to a simple contusion and sensitivity disorders usually resolves within 4 weeks (sometimes more). On the other hand, evolution of severe nerve injury with incontinence and sexual problems is unpredictable [86,88,89]. It seems that the risk is more important in women. It is less frequent in obese patients as fat protects the nerve [86,90]. Risk is related to the force and duration of traction [86]. Femoral nerve injury presents as weakness of quadriceps muscle whose principal function is knee extension. Studies report an incidence of 0.1 to 2.4 % [91].

Sciatic nerve injury leads to weakness of ankle and toes elevators leading to foot drop associated with sensitivity problems at the back of the foot. Its incidence varies from zero to 2.8 % [84,92].

Lower limb over lengthening after hip prosthesis implantation is a risk factor. Recovery from sciatic nerve injury may be partial or complete. Full recovery is estimated at 36 to 60 %. Partial nerve injury has a better chance for full recovery. Average time to recovery is about 10 to 24 months (1 year for partial lesions and 1 and ½ years for complete lesions). Obesity may have a negative effect on recovery [93,94].

Lateral cutaneous nerve of the thigh injury may occur following anterior surgical approach. It causes tingling, numbness or burning sensation on the front or on the outer part of the thigh. It usually does not lead to functional limitations [95,96]. Incidence varies from less than 1 % to 14.8 % [95].

Femoral fracture

Fracture of the femur may occur during surgery while introducing prosthesis or a nail into the femoral canal, or it may occur after surgery. The distal part of a prosthesis or a nail acts as a stress riser. Femoral fracture may also occur after hardware removal due to stress shielding. This is a serious problem with a high complication rate, as it occurs in already fragile patients [95,97]. It is more common in un cemented prosthesis [98-102], where it reached more than 15 % in a study [103].

In another study on 8354 patients with hip fractures treated with either a cemented or uncemented prosthesis, the incidence of femoral fracture was 2.3 % in the uncemented prosthesis group and 0.5 % in the cemented prosthesis group. Seventy two percent were women and the mean age was 86 years [104].

Some studies also reported less pain following cemented prosthesis [105,106]. Advocates of un cemented prosthesis, avoid using cement as it may increase the risk of cardiovascular complications during and after surgery [99,107-109]. However, modern cementing techniques have significantly reduced this risk [110-112]. Most cases of femoral fractures are treated surgically [113] (Figure 10).

Femoral fracture following nail implantation decreased with new nail designs. A study comparing femoral fracture rate in 89 studies on 13568 patients who received a nail following a hip fracture, showed that the incidence of fracture has declined from 2.6 % in older designs to 1.7 % in more recent ones [114]. The prosthesis was replaced by a long stem after doing a femorotomy. A total hip arthroplasty was performed, as painful osteoarthritis of the acetabulum has developed.



Figure 9: Perforation of the hip joint by the femoral neck screw.



Figure 10: A 68y old female presenting with a femoral diaphysis fracture 12 years following a FNF treated with a unipolar arthroplasty.

Functional Results

A hip fracture is a turning point of life in elderly patients. 1 year after HF, only 20 to 60 % of living patients have the same activity level as before [115]. Only 40 % of patients who walked without aide will do the same at 1 year, 25 % will need a walker and 10 % will not be able to walk [116]. After a HF, patients have a worse function (walking) and a longer time needed to rise from a chair than women of the same age [117]. Table 1 shows the results of a study on 103 patients comparing their activities before HF and 1 year after the fracture [118].

After a HF, a vicious circle of fear of falling together with hip pain and muscle weakness leads to immobility. Immobility in turn leads to muscle weakness and problems with balance increasing the risk of falls and fractures [119]. Maximal recovery occurs during the first months following surgery. A study showed that recovery beyond 4 months after a HF is little [120].

Table 1: Shows the results of a study on 103 patients comparing their activities before HF and 1 year after the fracture.

Ability To	Walk	Climb Stairs	Take Care of Themselves*	Walk Outdoors
Before Fracture	93.20%	74.80%	90%	73.80%
1 Year After Fracture	70.90%	49.10%	75%	58.20%

*Feeding, dressing and toileting themselves.

Mortality Rate

Death rate during the first year following a HF varies from 22 to 33 % [121]. It may reach up to 67 % in patients over 80 years [122].Risk factors for a bad outcome are age over 80 years, men, poor general health [122-124], poor function before surgery, complications after surgery [124], especially deep wound infection and pressure sores, a 2nd surgery due to displaced screws [123], poor mental status [4,18], heart disease, lung disease, and a long time between a HF and surgery.

A long time between a HF and surgery is defined as

more than 2 days in some studies [125-127] and more than 4 days in one study [128]. In another study, a long time between a HF and surgery seems to increase the risk of complications such as blood clots, pressure sores and urinary and lung infection, without increasing the risk of death [129]. At the same time, a delay in the time of surgery may reflect a fragile health condition which needs to be prepared before surgery and may partly explain the higher death rate in these patients. Whites seem to have better function and fewer death rates than nonwhites [130].



Special Types of Hip Fractures

Stress fracture of the femoral neck (SFFN)

Bone is a dynamic tissue, which remodels in response to muscle force applied to it. Its strength increases when muscle activity increases and decreases when muscle activity decreases [131-133]. Normally, bone is continuously undergoing destruction and reparation. There is a normal balance between these two processes. Any disturbance of this balance may lead to a stress fracture.

In fact, a stress fracture occurs when bone is exposed to a repetitive force, which is beyond the capacity of bone to adapt leading to fracture. It is due to a force that would not normally cause a fracture, but with repetition, becomes capable of causing a fracture. The force applied to bone is from muscle contraction and/or weight bearing on the ground [134,135].

Depending on the quality of bone, there are two types of stress fractures. If a stress fracture occurs following excessive muscle force applied to normal bone, we call it a fatigue fracture. On the other hand, if a stress fracture occurs following normal repetitive muscle force on fragile bone, we call it an insufficiency fracture [136-138]. Insufficiency fractures are most commonly seen in elderly patients, patients with inflammatory joint disease or patients taking cortisone and diabetics [136-139]. Fatigue fractures are most commonly observed in military recruits and in long distance runners [140,141]. Increased training intensity, incorrect training techniques, hard training surfaces and inappropriate footwear may play a role in the development of a stress fracture [142].

Women may be more exposed. SFFN may occur in young women suffering from the female athlete triad. Whites are at higher risk to develop a SFFN than African Americans and Hispanics, probably due to lower bone density [143,144]. First, SFFN presents as pain in the groin that appears during training and disappears at rest, and then pain appears at rest [132]. Sometimes, pain is irradiated to the thigh or the knee. The majority of SFFN are undisplaced and X-rays are usually normal. Bone scan and MRI are very helpful in diagnosis of stress fractures [132].

Displaced fractures or initially undisplaced fractures displaced secondarily may lead to AVN [131]. According to the level of the fracture line, SFFN are divided into 2 types: The compression type and the tension type [145,146]. The compression type initially appears at the lower part of the femoral neck and is considered stable. The tension type appears at the upper part of the femoral neck and is unstable [145,146].

Prevention of SFNN is through modification of training programs, improving training surfaces and footwear modification (Shock-absorbent materials). These

measures may help to reduce the risk of SFFN but do not totally prevent them [147]. Treatment of SFFN: Most SFFN are undisplaced and do not require surgical treatment [131].

Undisplaced compression fractures are treated conservatively with no weight bearing until disappearance of pain and normalization of X-rays, physiotherapy for muscle strengthening and adequate nutrition. Treatment of the undisplaced tension type of SFFN is controversial. Some surgeons treat it conservatively while others treat it surgically to avoid secondary displacement, which carries the risk of AVN. Displaced SFFN is treated surgically. As these fractures usually occur in younger individuals, osteosynthesis rather than prosthesis are the method of choice.

Isolated fracture of the greater trochanter

Isolated fracture of the greater trochanter is rare. It usually occurs following a fall on the side of the hip [4,148]. Diagnosis is usually made using plain X-rays. In case of doubt or if a pertrochanteric fracture is suspected, we order an MRI, a CT scan or a bone scan. MRI is more accurate than CT scan [149] and bone scan [148]. However, Modern CT scan seems to be as accurate as MRI [150].

Treatment of isolated greater trochanteric fractures depends on displacement. In un displaced or little displaced fractures, treatment is conservative with bed rest and weight bearing is allowed as tolerated [4]. Some surgeons do not allow weight bearing before 6 weeks. In case of displaced fracture, treatment may be conservative or surgical. Surgical treatment consists of osteosynthesis of the greater trochanter. Weight bearing is not allowed for 6 weeks.

Isolated fracture of the lesser trochanter

Isolated fracture of the lesser trochanter is rare. It occurs in adolescents after a significant injury. In this case healing occurs without surgery [151]. It presents with pain in the groin with limping. In older patients, it often occurs with no history of injury and is usually due to metastasis [151,152]. In this case, preventive fixation with osteosynthesis is considered to prevent a sub trochanteric fracture [151,152].

Pathological fractures

Pathological fractures occur when bone becomes abnormally fragile. This fragility may be due to the presence of a tumor in the femoral neck, or due to a change in bone structure due to a genetic, metabolic or neurological disease. A pathological fracture may occur after a mild injury, which normally would not cause a fracture in normal bone, or may occur without injury. In this case, fracture occurs before the patient falls and the patient may hear or feel a crack before falling. Pathological fractures may be prevented using

osteosynthesis if diagnosis is made before fracture occurs. Before a pathological fracture, patients present with pain at the hip joint that may irradiate to the knee.

Bone tumours

Bone tumours may be benign or malignant. Benign tumours Common benign bone tumours include fibrous dysplasia, aneurismal bone cysts and simple (unicameral) juvenile bone cysts. They are more common in children. Treatment of benign tumours of the femoral neck depends on the type of the tumour, the presence or absence of pain and the risk of fracture. In case of absence of pain with X-rays showing no risk of fracture, observation is indicated. Otherwise, surgery is indicated to prevent a FNF or to treat a spontaneous FNF occurring through a benign tumor. Surgery consists of removing the tumour and fixation of the fracture. Bone usually heals normally. Sometimes bone grafting may be needed. Recurrence of a benign tumour may occur. Some tumours have a higher tendency of recurrence. For example, an aneurismal bone cvst may recur after treatment in 10 to 44 % of cases [153-155].

Malignant tumours

Malignant tumours may be primary or secondary. Primary malignant tumours: The occurrence of a pathological fracture through a primary malignant tumour may worsen the outcome as the fracture may cause spread of malignant cells to the surrounding soft tissue and distant organs [156,157]. It may also increase the risk of recurrence [156-158].

We order CT scan and MRI to evaluate the tumour. Other exams as bone scan, tumour markers may be needed. A biopsy of the tumour should be done before the definitive treatment to confirm the diagnosis and to plan the treatment according to the type of the tumour. If the tumor is sensitive to chemotherapy, it could be started and continued for 3 months before surgical treatment [156]. Radiotherapy may also be used for radiosensitive tumours.

Treatment of a primary malignant tumour with FNF consists of excision and reconstruction of the hip joint using a special prosthesis, bone grafts and cement. The aim is to achieve complete recovery and to avoid recurrence of the tumour.

Metastatic tumours

The most common malignant tumours that metastasize to the femoral neck are and not limited to breast, lung, thyroid, kidney and prostate cancer. A FNF may be the first presenting sign. In general, bone metastasis affect men 3 times more than women. The average age of patients is 61 to 65 years [156,159-162].

Life expectancy is about 40 % after the 1 year and 20 % at 3 years [159]. If bone metastasis is only limited to the femoral neck, especially if the primary tumor originates from the thyroid or the breast [163-165], removal of the tumor may be considered to try to achieve recovery.

On the other hand, if exams show that the tumor has spread to multiple organs, complete recovery is most likely not possible. Our aim here is to fix the FNF in order to relief the pain and to improve the patient's quality of life. Pain control and psychological support are very essential in these patients. Radiotherapy could be very helpful against the tumor but also to relief the pain [156,166,167]. About 70 % of patients are relieved with radiotherapy [156].

Complications of radiotherapy are fatigue, skin irritation, delay of bone healing and radio-induced sarcoma [156]. Treatment of metastatic femoral neck fracture is a femoral prosthesis if the acetabulum is not involved. In case the acetabulum is involved, a total hip prosthesis is indicated. In pertrochanteric and sub trochanteric fractures, osteosynthesis or prosthesis may be considered. Prosthesis is preferred if there is a unique lesion that is too big to be stabilized with osteosynthesis material, when the tumor is not sensitive to radiotherapy and when the life expectancy of the patient is relatively high [168].

Genetic disorders

Examples include osteogenesis imperfecta, osteopetrosis and pycnodysostosis.

Metabolic disorders

Osteoporosis, osteomalacia, primary and secondary hyperparathyroidism [169] and Paget's disease cause bone fragility and may lead to fracture [156].

Other causes of pathological fractures

Juvenile osteoporosis, Gorham's disease and radiation may cause pathological fractures. Pathological fractures following radiation are difficult to heal with up to 40 % rate of non-union, and infection rate after surgery is high [170,171]. Radiation may also lead to sarcoma, which in turn may lead to a pathological fracture [156].

Atypical femoral fractures

Atypical femoral fracture is a recent entity, which has been linked to bisphosphonate medications. Bisphosphonates are the most common medications used for treatment of osteoporosis [172]. Mechanism of these fractures is through bisphosphonate inhibition of bone remodelling by suppressing osteoclastmediated bone resorption. This leads to micro damage accumulation [173,174] and impaired stress fracturehealing, a reduction in matrix heterogeneity and an increase in advanced glycation end-products [175,176]. Bilateral involvement of AFF affects 28 % to 44.2 % of patients [172,177-179].

According to the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research, diagnosis of atypical femoral fractures (AFF) is based on major and minor features [177]. To diagnose an AFF, all major features must be present. For more accuracy, some authors recommend the presence of both features [172,180]. Other factors include Asian descent, probably due to femoral bowing [179,181].



Major features

- I. Located anywhere along the femur from just distal to the lesser trochanter to just proximal to the supracondylar flare.
- II. Associated with no trauma or minimal trauma, as in a fall from a standing height or less.
- III. Transverse or short oblique configuration.
- IV. Noncomminuted.
- V. Complete fractures extend through both cortices and may be associated with a medial spike; incomplete fractures involve only the lateral cortex.

Minor features

- I. Localized periosteal reaction of the lateral cortex.
- II. Generalized increase in cortical thickness of the diaphysis.
- III. Prodromal symptoms such as dull or aching pain in the groin or thigh.
- IV. Bilateral fractures and symptoms.
- V. Delayed healing.
- VI. Comorbid conditions (e.g. vitamin D deficiency, RA, hypophosphatasia).
- VII. Pharmaceutical agents (e.g. Bisphosphonates, Glucocorticoids, Proton Pump Inhibitors).

It is to be noted that AFF represent only 17 % to 29 % of subtrochanteric or diaphyseal fractures [173]. Moreover, AFF may occur in patients not taking bisphosphonates [182]. Hence, diagnosis must be made precautiously. Bisphosphonates accumulates in bone and continues to be released for months or years after treatment is continued. That's why it is recommended to stop bisphosphonates after 5 to 10 years of treatment. This is known as a 'drug holiday' [172]. The duration of treatment and of the drug holiday depend upon the type of bisphosphonate and the risk of fracture [172,183].

Treatment consists of stopping bisphosphonate [184], giving an anabolic agent that promotes fracture healing, such as teriparatide [185], calcium and vitamin D supplementation, intramedullary fixation of the fracture and identifying any underlying metabolic bone disease (measuring calcium, phosphate, 25 hydroy vitamin D, etc.) [172]. Finally assessment of the contralateral femur is mandatory especially if there is history of thigh or groin pain [172].

Conclusion

Hip fractures are very common and their incidence is rapidly increasing due to increasing number of aging population. It represents a social and economic problem worldwide. Elderly women are at highest risk due to osteoporosis. Treatment is almost always surgical to allow early mobilization, the only guaranty for better function and avoiding complications. Complication rate is relatively high especially in elderly patients leading to high death rate. Death rate is about 25 % at the end of the first year. A multidisciplinary approach involving emergency doctors, hospitalists, family physicians, orthopaedic surgeons, anesthetists, geriatricians, physiotherapists, nutritionists, nurses, paramedical staff and last but not least support from family members is mandatory.

References

- 1. Melton LJ (1993) Hip fractures: a worldwide problem today and tomorrow. Bone 14(1): S1-S8.
- 2. Brown CA, Starr AZ, Nunley JA (2012) Analysis of past secular trends of hip fractures and predicted number in the future 2010-2050. J Orthop Trauma 26(2): 117-122.
- Melton LJ (1993) Hip fractures: a worldwide problem today and tomorrow. Bone 14(1): S1-S8.
- Thierry Scheerlinck: Patrick Haentjens Fractures de l'extrémité supérieure du fémur chez l'adulte. Fractures of the upper extremity of the femur. Medico-surgical encyclopaedia musculoskeletal system, France.
- 5. Encyclopédie médico-chirurgicale appareil locomoteur, France.
- Kyziridis TC (2006) Post-operative delirium after hip fracture treatment-a review of the current literature. Psychosoc Med p. 8.
- Cummings SR, Black DM, Nevitt MC, Browner W, Cauley J, et al. Bone density at various sites for prediction of hip fractures. The Study of Osteoporotic Fractures Research Group. Lancet 341(8837): 72-75.
- 8. Dargent-Molina P, Favier F, Grandjean H, Baudoin C, Schott AM, et al. (1996) Fall-related factors and risk of hip fracture: the EPIDOS prospective study. Lancet 348(9021): 145-149.
- Kirby MW, Spritzer C (2010) Radiographic detection of hip and pelvic fractures in the emergency department. AJR Am J Roentgenol 194(4): 1054-1060.
- Rizzo PF, Gould ES, Lyden JP, Asnis SE (1993) Diagnosis of occult fractures about the hip. Magnetic resonance imaging compared with bone-scanning. J Bone Joint Surg Am 75(3): 395-401.
- 11. Rao SS, Cherukuri M (2006) Management of hip fracture: the family physician's role. Am Fam Physician 73(12): 2195-2200.
- 12. Davalillo CT, Mejía TM, Orbezo GF, Tovar PV, Velazco GR (2007) Risk factors that have influence on acetabular erosion after a hip hemiarthroplasty in the treatment of subcapital fractures. Acta Ortop Mex 21(3): 121-127.
- Simon P, Gouin F, Veillard D, Laffargue P, Ehlinger M, et al. (2008) Femoral neck fractures in patients over 50 years old. Rev Chir Orthop Reparatrice Appar Mot 94(6): S108-S132.
- Upadhyay A, Jain P, Mishra P, Maini L, Gautum VK, et al. (2004) Delayed internal fixation of fractures of the neck of the femur in young adults. A prospective, randomised study comparing closed and open reduction. J Bone Joint Surg Br 86(7): 1035-1040.
- 15. Nikolopoulos KE, Papadakis SA, Kateros KT, Themistocleous GS, Vlamis JA, et al. (2003) Long-term outcome of patients with avascular necrosis, after internal fixation of femoral neck fractures. Injury 34(7): 525-528.
- Mao YJ, Wei J, Zhou L, Wang MY, Su JG (2005) Related factor analysis of avascular necrosis of the femoral head after internal fixation with cannulated screws in femoral neck fractures. Zhonghua Yi Xue Za Zhi 85(46): 3256-3259.
- 17. Petersen MB, Jørgensen HL, Hansen K, Duus BR (2006) Factors

affecting postoperative mortality of patients with displaced femoral neck fracture. Injury. 37(8): 705-711.

- Simunovic N, Devereaux PJ, Sprague S, Guyatt GH, Schemitsch E (2010) Effect of early surgery after on mortality and complications: systematic review and meta-analysis. CMAJ 182(15): 1609-1616.
- Elliott J, Beringer T, Kee F, Marsh D, Willis C, et al. (2003) Predicting survival after treatment for fracture of the proximal femur and the effect of delays to surgery. J Clin Epidemiol 56(8): 788-795.
- 20. Smektala R, Hahn S, Schräder P, Bonnaire F, Schulze Raestrup U (2010) Medial hip neck fracture: influence of pre-operative delay on the quality of outcome. Results of data from the external in-hospital quality assurance within the framework of secondary data analysis. Unfallchirurg 113(4): 287-292.
- Bilsel K, Erdil M, Gulabi D, Elmadag M, Cengiz O (2013) Factors affecting mortality after hip fracture surgery: a retrospective analysis of 578 patients. Eur J Orthop Surg Traumatol 23(8): 895-900.
- 22. Westberg M, Snorrason F, Frihagen F (2013) Preoperative waiting time increased the risk of periprosthetic infection in patients with femoral neck fracture. Acta Orthop 84(2): 124-129.
- 23. Shiga T, Wajima Z, Ohe Y (2008) Is operative delay associated with increased mortality of hip fracture patients? Systemic review, meta-analysis and meta-regression. Can J Anaesth 55(3): 146-154.
- 24. Rodriguez-FP, Adarraga CD, Carpintero P (2011) Effects of Delayed Hip Fracture Surgery on Mortality and Morbidity in Elderly Patients. Clin Orthop Relat Res 469(11): 3218-3221.
- 25. Braun W, Rüter A, Wiedemann M, Kissing F (1991) Femoral head preserving therapy in medial femoral neck fractures. A clinical study of the effects of treatment method on the outcome. Unfallchirurg 94(6): 325-330.
- Hoelsbrekken SE, Opsahl JH, Stiris M, Paulsrud Ø, Strømsøe K (2012) Failed internal fixation of femoral neck fractures. Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen 132(11): 1343-1347.
- Razik F, Alexopoulos AS, El-Osta B, Connolly MJ, Brown A, et al. (2012) Time to internal fixation of femoral neck fractures in patients under sixty years--does this matter in the development of osteonecrosis of femoral head? Int Orthop 36(10): 2127-2132.
- 28. Layzell MJ (2013) Use of femoral nerve blocks in adults with hip fractures. Nurs Stand 27(52): 49-56.
- Bateman L, Vuppala S, Porada P, Carter W, Baijnath C, et al. (2012) Medical Management in the Acute Hip Fracture Patient: A Comprehensive Review for the Internist. Ochsner J12(2): 101-110.
- Kehlet H (1998) Modification of responses to surgery by neural blockade: clinical implications. In: Cousins MJ and Bridenbaugh PO (Eds.), Neural Blockade in Clinical Anesthesia and Management of Pain, (3rd edn), Lippincott Raven, Philadelphia, USA, pp: 129-175.
- 31. Holte K, Sharrock NE, Kehlet H (2002) Pathophysiology and clinical implications of perioperative fluid excess. Br J Anaesth 89(4): 622-632.

- 32. Foss NB, Kehlet H (2006) Hidden blood loss after surgery for hip fracture. J Bone Joint Surg Br 88(8): 1053-1059.
- Carson JL, Noveck H, Berlin JA, Gould SA (2002) Mortality and morbidity in patients with very low postoperative Hb levels who decline blood transfusion. Transfusion 42(7): 812-818.
- Carson JL, Altman DG, Duff A, Noveck H, Weinstein MP, et al. (1999) Risk of bacterial infection associated with allogenic blood transfusion among patients undergoing hip fracture repair. Transfusion 39(7): 694-700.
- 35. Lunsjö K, Ceder L, Thorngren KG, Skytting B, Tidermark J, et al. (2001) Extramedullary fixation of 569 unstable intertrochanteric fractures. A randomized multicenter trial of the Medoff sliding plate versus three other screw-plate systems. Acta Chir Scand 72(2): 133-140.
- Lu-Yao GL, Keller RB, Littenberg B, Wennberg JE (1994) Outcomes after displaced fractures of the femoral neck. A meta-analysis of one hundred and six published reports. J Bone Joint Surg Am 76(1): 15-25.
- Magaziner J, Lydick E, Hawkes W, Fox K, Zimmerman SI, et al. (1997) Excess mortality attributable to hip fracture in white women aged 70 years and older. Am J Public Health 87(10): 1630-1636.
- Geerts WH, Pineo GF, Heit JA, Bergqvist D, Lassen MR, et al. (2004) Prevention of venous thromboembolism: the Seventh ACCP Conference on Antithrombotic and Thrombolytic Therapy. Chest 126(3): 338S-400S.
- Vielpeau C, Barre J, Barrellier MT, Borel-Derlon A, Rosencher N, et al. (2008) Prophylaxie des accidents thromboemboliques veineux en chirurgie orthopédique et traumatologique. EMC Appareil locomoteur p. 1-19.
- 40. Turpie AG, Bauer KA, Eriksson BI, Lassen MR (2004) Superiority of fondaparinux over enoxaparin in preventing venous thromboembolism in major orthopaedic surgery using different efficacy end points. Chest 126(2): 501-508.
- Falck-Ytter Y, Francis CW, Johanson NA, Curley C, Dahl OE, et al. (2012) Prevention of VTE in Orthopedic Surgery PatientsAntithrombotic Therapy and Prevention of Thrombosis, 9th ed: American College of Chest Physicians Evidence-Based Clinical Practice Guidelines. Chest. 141(2): e278S-e325S.
- 42. Eriksson BI, Lassen MR (2003) Duration of prophylaxis against venous thromboembolism with fondaparinux after hip fracture surgery: a multicenter, randomized, placebo-controlled, double-blind study. Arch Intern Med 163(11): 1337-1342.
- **43.** Kwong LM (2004) Hip fracture and venous thromboembolism in the elderly. J Surg Orthop Adv 13(3): 139-148.
- 44. Rohrer O, Eicher M Effectiveness of intermittent pneumatic compression (IPC) on thrombosis prophylaxis: a systematic literature review. Pflege 19(3): 175-87.
- 45. Comerota AJ, Katz ML, White JV (1992) Why does prophylaxis with external pneumatic compression for deep vein thrombosis fail? Am J Surg 164(3): 265-268.
- 46. Murakami M, McDill TL, Cindrick-Pounds L, Loran DB, Woodside KJ, et al. (2003) Deep venous thrombosis prophylaxis in trauma: improved compliance with a novel miniaturized

pneumatic compression device. J Vasc Surg 38(5): 923-927.

- 47. Robertson BD, Robertson TJ (2006) Postoperative delirium after hip fracture. J Bone Joint Surg Am 88(9): 2060-2068.
- Lee KH, Ha YC, Lee YK, Kang H, Koo KH (2011) Frequency, Risk Factors, and Prognosis of Prolonged Delirium in Elderly Patients After Hip Fracture Surgery. Clin Orthop Relat Res 469(9): 2612-2620.
- 49. Paĺsson SP, Ostling S, Skoog I (2001) The incidence of firstonset depression in a population followed from the age of 70 to 85. Psychol Med 31(7): 1159-1168.
- 50. Lenze EJ, Munin MC, Skidmore ER, Dew MA, Rogers JC (2007) Onset of depression in elderly persons after hip fracture: implications for prevention and early intervention of late-life depression. J Am Geriatr Soc 55(1): 81-86.
- Voshaar RC, Banerjee S, Horan M, Baldwin R, Pendleton N (2007) Predictors of incident depression after hip fracture surgery. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry 15(9): 807-814.
- Lenze EJ, Munin MC, Dew MA, Marin RS, Butters MA, et al. (2009) Apathy after hip fracture: a potential target for intervention to improve functional outcomes. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci 21(3): 271-278.
- Baumgarten M, Rich SE, Shardell MD, Hawkes WG, Margolis DJ, et al. (2012) Care-Related Risk Factors for Hospital-Acquired Pressure Ulcers Among Elderly Hip Fracture Patients. J Am Geriatr Soc 60(2): 277-283.
- Daniel B, Ashkan J (2008) Pressure Ulcers: Prevention, Evaluation, and Management. American family physician 78(10): 1186-1194.
- Baumgarten M, Margolis DJ, Berlin JA, Strom BL, Garino J, et al. (2003) Risk factors for pressure ulcers among elderly hip fracture patients. Wound Repair Regen 11(2): 96-103.
- 56. Haleem S, Heinert G, Parker MJ (2008) Pressure sores and hip fractures. Injury 39(2): 219-223.
- Lindholm C, Sterner E, Romanelli M, Pina E, Torra y Bou J, et al. (2008) Hip fracture and pressure ulcers - the Pan-European Pressure Ulcer Study - intrinsic and extrinsic risk factors. Int Wound J 5(2): 315-328.
- Hess CT (2002) Wound Care. (4th edn), Pennsylvania, USA p. 54-55.
- Johansson RM, Christensson L (2010) Urinary retention in older patients in connection with hip fracture surgery. J Clin Nurs 19(15-16): 2110-2116.
- Skelly JM, Guyatt GH, Kalbfleisch R, Singer J, Winter L (1992) Management of urinary retention after surgical repair of hip fracture. CMAJ 146(7): 1185-1189.
- 61. Smith NK, Albazzaz MK (1996) A prospective study of urinary retention and risk of death after proximal femoral fracture. Age Ageing 25(2): 150-154.
- Tobu S, Noguchi M, Hashikawa T, Uozumi J (2013) Risk factors of postoperative urinary retention after hip surgery for femoral neck fracture in elderly women. Geriatr Gerontol Int 14(3): 636-639.
- 63. Wald HL, Ma A, Bratzler DW, Kramer AM (2008) Indwelling

urinary catheter use in the postoperative period: analysis of the national surgical infection prevention project data. Arch Surg 143(6): 551-557.

- 64. Wald H, Epstein A, Kramer A (2005) Extended use of indwelling urinary catheters in postoperative hip fracture patients. Med Care 43(10): 1009-1017.
- Hälleberg Nyman M1, Johansson JE, Persson K, Gustafsson M (2011) A prospective study of nosocomial urinary tract infection in hip fracture patients. J Clin Nurs 20(17-18): 2531-2539.
- Thonse R, Sreenivas M, Sherman KP (2004) Timing of antibiotic prophylaxis in surgery for adult hip fracture. Ann R Coll Surg Engl 86(4): 263-266.
- 67. Ridgeway S, Wilson J, Charlet A, Kafatos G, Pearson A (2005) Infection of the surgical site after arthroplasty of the hip. J Bone Joint Surg Br 87(6): 844-850.
- Merrer J, Girou E, Lortat-Jacob A, Montravers P, Lucet JC (2007) Groupe de Recherche sur l'Antibioprophylaxie en Chirurgie. Surgical site infection after surgery to repair femoral neck fracture: a French multicenter retrospective study. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 28(10): 1169-1174.
- 69. Edwards C, Counsell A, Boulton C, Moran CG (2008) Early infection after hip fracture surgery: risk factors, costs and outcome. J Bone Joint Surg Br 90(6): 770-777.
- 70. Tirésias IV La prévention Médicale. Alain Lortat-Jacob Infection Des Prothèses de Hanche Infection of Hip Prosthesis.
- Gemmel F, Van den Wyngaert H, Love C, Welling MM, Gemmel P, et al. (2012) Prosthetic joint infections: radionuclide state-ofthe-art imaging. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 39(5): 892-909.
- 72. JY Jenny (2009) Quoi De Neuf Dans l'infection Sur Prothèse Articulaire? Maitrise Orthpédique number p. 180.
- Pavoni GL, Giannella M, Falcone M, Scorzolini L, Liberatore M (2004) Conservative medical therapy of prosthetic joint infections: retrospective analysis of an 8-year experience. Clin Microbiol Infect 10(9): 831-837.
- Palm H, Jacobsen S, Sonne-Holm S, Gebuhr P (2007) Integrity of the lateral femoral wall in intertrochanteric hip fractures: an important predictor of a reoperation. J Bone Joint Surg Am 89(3): 470-475.
- Feng W, Hao T, Liu WL, Jia YF, Hao ZT (2013) Clinical outcome of endoprosthetic replacement for failed treatment of intertrochanteric fractures: A retrospective case series. Pak J Med Sci 29(2): 633-637.
- D'Arrigo C, Perugia D, Carcangiu A, Monaco E, Speranza A (2010) Hip arthroplasty for failed treatment of proximal femoral fractures. Int Orthop 34(7): 939-942.
- 77. Rajak MK, Jha R, Kumar P, Thakur R (2013) Bipolar hemiarthroplasty for intracapsular femoral neck fractures in elderly patients. J Orthop Surg (Hong Kong) 21(3): 313-316.
- Tarasevicius S, Busevicius M, Robertsson O, Wingstrand H (2010) Dual mobility cup reduces dislocation rate after arthroplasty for femoral neck fracture. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 11: 175.
- 79. Poignard A, Bouhou M, Pidet O, Flouzat-Lachaniette CH,

Hernigou P (2011) High dislocation cumulative risk in THA versus hemiarthroplasty for fractures. Clin Orthop Relat Res 469(11): 3148-3153.

- 80. Enocson A, Hedbeck CJ, Tidermark J, Pettersson H, Ponzer S, et al. (2009) Dislocation of total hip replacement in patients with fractures of the femoral neck. Acta Orthop 80(2): 184-189.
- 81. Bush JB, Wilson MR (2007) Dislocation after hip hemiarthroplasty: anterior versus posterior capsular approach. Orthopedics 30(2): 138-144.
- 82. Biber R, Brem M, Singler K, Moellers M, Sieber C, et al. (2012) Dorsal versus transgluteal approach for hip hemiarthroplasty: an analysis of early complications in seven hundred and four consecutive cases. Int Orthop 36(11): 2219-2123.
- 83. Enocson A, Tidermark J, Tornkvist H, Lapidus LJ (2008) Dislocation of hemiarthroplasty after femoral neck fracture: better outcome after the anterolateral approach in a prospective cohort study on 739 consecutive hips. Acta Orthop 79(2): 211-217.
- 84. Sköldenberg O, Ekman A, Salemyr M, Bodén H (2010) Reduced dislocation rate after hip arthroplasty for femoral neck fractures when changing from posterolateral to anterolateral approach. Acta Orthop 81(5): 583-587.
- 85. Butt AJ, McCarthy T, Kelly IP, Glynn T, McCoy G (2005) Sciatic nerve palsy secondary to postoperative haematoma in primary total hip replacement. J Bone Joint Surg Br 87(11): 1465-1467.
- Oleksak M, Edge AJ (1992) Compression of the sciatic nerve by methylmethacrylate cement after total hip replacement. J Bone Joint Surg Br 74(5): 729-730.
- Soulié M, Vazzoler N, Seguin P, Chiron P, Plante P (2002) Urological consequences of pudendal nerve trauma during orthopedic surgery: review and practical advice. Prog Urol 12(3): 504-509.
- 87. Napal Lecumberri S, Vallejo Negro J, Paz Vidal M, Gil de la Puente J, Ortega Zurro J (1998) Erectile dysfunction caused by neurapraxia of the pudendal nerve after the use of a traction table for the treatment of traumatic fractures. Report of a case and review of the literature. Arch Esp Urol 51(3): 298-300.
- Lyon T, Koval KJ, Kummer F, Zuckerman JD (1993) Pudendal nerve palsy induced by fracture table. Orthop Rev 22(5): 521-525.
- Sciard D, Cattano D, Hussain M, Rosenstein A (2011) Perioperative management of proximal hip fractures in the elderly: the surgeon and the anesthesiologist. Minerva Anestesiol 77(7): 715-722.
- 90. Amarenco G, Ismael SS, Bayle B, Denys P, Kerdraon J (2001) Electrophysiological analysis of pudendal neuropathy following traction. Muscle Nerve 24(1): 116-119.
- Fox AJ, Bedi A, Wanivenhaus F, Sculco TP, Fox JS (2012) Femoral neuropathy following total hip arthroplasty: review and management guidelines. Acta Orthop Belg 78(2): 145-151.
- Burgess BM, Villar RN (2000) A little too close to the bone? risk of sciatic nerve injury during hip arthroplasty. Hip Int 10: 166-169.
- 93. Park JH, Hozack B, Kim P, Norton R, Mandel S (2013) Common peroneal nerve palsy following total hip arthroplasty:

prognostic factors for recovery. J Bone Joint Surg Am 95(9): e55.

- Farrell CM, Springer BD, Haidukewych GJ, Morrey BF (2005) Motor nerve palsy following primary total hip arthroplasty. J Bone Joint Surg Am 87(12): 2619-2625.
- 95. Bhargava T, Goytia RN, Jones LC, Hungerford MW (2010) Lateral femoral cutaneous nerve impairment after direct anterior approach for total hip arthroplasty. Orthopedics 33(7): 472.
- Goulding K, Beaulé PE, Kim PR, Fazekas A (2010) Incidence of lateral femoral cutaneous nerve neuropraxia after anterior approach hip arthroplasty. Clin Orthop Relat Res 468(9): 2397-2404.
- 97. Zuurmond RG, van Wijhe W, van Raay JJ, Bulstra SK (2010) High incidence of complications and poor clinical outcome in the operative treatment of periprosthetic femoral fractures: An analysis of 71 cases. Injury 41(6): 629-633.
- Taylor F, Wright M, Zhu M (2012) Hemiarthroplasty of the hip with and without cement: a randomized clinical trial. J Bone Joint Surg Am 94(7): 577-583.
- 99. Gjertsen JE, Lie SA, Vinje T, Engesæter LB, Hallan G, et al. (2012) More re-operations after uncemented than cemented hemiarthroplasty used in the treatment of displaced fractures of the femoral neck: an observational study of 11,116 hemiarthroplasties from a national register. J Bone Joint Surg Br 94(8): 1113-1119.
- Leonardsson O, Kärrholm J, Åkesson K, Garellick G, Rogmark C (2012) Higher risk of reoperation for bipolar and uncemented hemiarthroplasty. Acta Orthop 83(5): 459-466.
- 101. Langslet E, Frihagen F, Opland V, Madsen JE, Nordsletten L, et al. (2013) Cemented versus Uncemented Hemiarthroplasty for Displaced Femoral Neck Fractures: 5-year Followup of a Randomized Trial. Clin Orthop Relat Res 472(4): 1291-1299.
- 102. McGraw IW, Spence SC, Baird EJ, Eckhardt SM, Ayana GE (2013) Incidence of periprosthetic fractures after hip hemiarthroplasty: Are uncemented prostheses unsafe? Injury 44(12): 1945-1948.
- 103. Chana R, Mansouri R, Jack C, Edwards MR, Singh R, et al. (2011) The suitability of an uncemented hydroxyapatite coated (HAC) hip hemiarthroplasty stem for intra-capsular femoral neck fractures in osteoporotic elderly patients: the Metaphyseal-Diaphyseal Index, a solution to preventing intra-operative periprosthetic fracture. J Orthop Surg Res 6: 59.
- 104. Phillips JR, Moran CG, Manktelow AR (2013) Periprosthetic fractures around hip hemiarthroplasty performed for hip fracture. Injury 44(6): 757-762.
- 105. Luo X, He S, Li Z, Huang D (2012) Systematic review of cemented versus uncemented hemiarthroplasty for displaced femoral neck fractures in older patients. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg 132(4): 455-463.
- 106. Parker MI, Pryor G, Gurusamy K (2010) Cemented versus uncemented hemiarthroplasty for intracapsular hip fractures: A randomised controlled trial in 400 patients. J Bone Joint Surg Br 92(1): 116-122.
- 107. Hossain M, Andrew JG (2012) Is there a difference in perioperative mortality between cemented and uncemented

implants in hip fracture surgery? Injury 43(12): 2161-2164.

- 108. Yamada T, Momwaki K, Shmroyama K, Ohtani T, Sakai A, et al. (2007) High incidence of cardiorespiratory deterioration in patients receiving cemented hip hemiarthroplasty for femoral neck fracture Masui 56(7): 810-816.
- 109. Parvizi J, Holiday AD, Ereth MH, Lewallen DG (1999) The Frank Stinchfield Award. Sudden death during primary hip arthroplasty. Clin Orthop Relat Res 369: 39-48.
- 110. Sierra RJ, Timperley JA, Gie GA (2009) Contemporary cementing technique and mortality during and after Exeter total hip arthroplasty. J Arthroplasty 24(3): 325-332.
- 111. Heisel C, Clarius M, Schneider U, Breusch SJ (2001) Thromboembolic complications related to the use of bone cement in hip arthroplasty--pathogenesis and prophylaxis Z Orthop Ihre Grenzgeb 139(3): 221-228.
- 112. Breusch SJ, Reitzel T, Schneider U, Volkmann M, Ewerbeck V, et al. (2000) Cemented hip prosthesis implantation--decreasing the rate of fat embolism with pulsed pressure lavage. Orthopade 29(6): 578-586.
- 113. Savin L, Barhăroșie C, Botez P (2012) Periprosthetic femoral fractures--evaluation of risk factors. Rev Med Chir Soc Med Nat Iasi 116(3): 846-852.
- 114. Norris R, Bhattacharjee D, Parker MJ (2012) Occurrence of secondary fracture around intramedullary **nails** used for trochanteric hip fractures: a systematic review of 13,568 patients. Injury 43(6): 706-711.
- 115. Egol KA, Koval KJ, Zuckerman JD (1997) Functional recovery following hip fracture in the elderly. J Orthop Trauma 11(8): 594-599.
- 116. Keene GS, Parker MJ, Pryor GA (1993) Mortality and morbidity after hip fractures. BMJ 307(6914): 1248-1250.
- 117. Fredman L, Magaziner J, Hawkes W, Hebel JR, Fried LP, et al. (2005) Female hip fracture patients had poorer performancebased functioning than community-dwelling peers over 2-year follow-up period. J Clin Epidemiol 58(12): 1289-1298.
- 118. Lin PC, Chang SY (2004) Functional recovery among elderly people one year after hip fracture surgery. J Nurs Res 12(1): 72-82.
- 119. Auais MA, Eilayyan O, Mayo NE (2012) Extended exercise rehabilitation after hip fracture improves patients' physical function: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Phys Ther 92(11): 1437-1451.
- 120. Koot VC, Peeters PH, de Jong JR, Clevers GJ, van der Werken C (2000) Functional results after treatment of hip fracture: a multicentre, prospective study in 215 patients. Eur J Surg 166(6): 480-485.
- 121. Haleem S, Lutchman L, Mayahi R, Grice JE, Parker MJ (2008) Mortality following hip fracture: trends and geographical variations over the last 40 years. Injury 39(10): 1157-1163.
- 122. Bilsel K, Erdil M, Gulabi D, Elmadag M, Cengiz O (2013) Factors affecting mortality after hip fracture surgery: a retrospective analysis of 578 patients. Eur J Orthop Surg Traumatol 23(8): 895-900.
- 123. Kopp L, Edelmann K, Obruba P, Procházka B, Blstáková K, et al. (2009) Mortality risk factors in the elderly with proximal

femoral fracture treated surgically. Acta Chir Orthop Traumatol Cech 76(1): 41-46.

- 124. Paksima N, Koval KJ, Aharanoff G, Walsh M, Kubiak EN, et al. (2008) Predictors of mortality after hip fracture: a 10-year prospective study. Bull NYU Hosp Jt Dis 66(2): 111-117.
- 125. Zuckerman JD, Skovron ML, Koval KJ, Aharonoff G, Frankel VH (1995) Postoperative complications and mortality associated with operative delay in older patients who have a fracture of the hip. J Bone Joint Surg Am 77(10): 1551-1556.
- 126. McGuire KJ, Bernstein J, Polsky D, Silber JH (2004) The 2004 Marshall Urist award: delays until surgery after hip fracture increases mortality. Clin Orthop Relat Res 428: 294-301.
- 127. Gdalevich M, Cohen D, Yosef D, Tauber C (2004) Morbidity and mortality after hip fracture: the impact of operative delay. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg 124(5): 334-340.
- 128. Moran CG, Wenn RT, Sikand M, Taylor AM (2005) Early mortality after hip fracture: is delay before surgery important? J Bone Joint Surg Am 87(3): 483-489.
- 129. Smektala R, Endres HG, Dasch B, Maier C, Trampisch HJ, et al. (2008) The effect of time-to-surgery on outcome in elderly patients with proximal femoral fractures. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 9: 171.
- 130. Penrod JD, Litke A, Hawkes WG, Magaziner J, Doucette JT (2008) The Association of Race, Gender, and Comorbidity With Mortality and Function After Hip Fracture. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 63(8): 867-872.
- Polacek M, Småbrekke (2010) A Displaced stress fracture of the femoral neck in young active adults. BMJ Case Rep pp: 2010.
- 132. Lassus J, Tulikoura I, Konttinen YT, Salo J, Santavirta S (2002) Bone stress injuries of the lower extremity: a review. Acta Orthop Scand 73(3): 359-368.
- Sterling JC, Edelstein DW, Calvo RD, Webb R (1992) Stress fractures in the athlete. Diagnosis and management. Sports Med 14(5): 336-346.
- 134. Brukner P, Bennell K, Matheson G (1999) Stress Fractures. Blackwell Science Asia Pty Ltd, Carlton, Australia.
- 135. Scully T J, Besterman G (1982) Stress fracture: a preventable training injury. Mil Med 147(4): 285-287.
- Daffner RH, Pavlov H (1992) Stress fractures: current concepts. AJR Am J Roentgenol 159(2): 245-252.
- 137. Romani WA1, Gieck JH, Perrin DH, Saliba EN, Kahler DM (2002) Mechanisms and Management of Stress Fractures in Physically Active Persons. J Athl Train 37(3): 306-314.
- 138. Umans H, Pavlov H (1994) Stress fractures of the lower extremities. Semin Roentgenol 29(2): 176-193.
- Kathol MH, el-Khoury GY, Moore TE, Marsh JL (1991) Calcaneal insufficiency avulsion fractures in patients with diabetes mellitus. Radiology 180(3): 725-729.
- 140. Talbot JC, Cox G, Townend M, Langham M, Parker PJ (2008) Femoral neck stress fractures in military personnel--a case series. J R Army Med Corps 154(1): 47-50.
- 141. Pihlajamäki HK, Ruohola JP, Weckström M, Kiuru MJ, Visuri TI

(2006) Long-term outcome of undisplaced fatigue fractures of the femoral neck in young male adults. J Bone Joint Surg Br 88(12): 1574-1579.

- 142. Beck BR (1998) Tibial stress injuries. An aetiological review for the purposes of guiding management. Sports Med 26(4): 265-279.
- 143. Brudvig T J, Gudger T D, Obermeyer L (1983) Stress fractures in 95 trainees: a one-year study of incidence as related to age, sex, and race. Mil Med 148(8): 666-667.
- 144. Gardner LI, Dziados JE, Jones BH, Brundage JF, Harris JM, et al. (1988) Prevention of lower extremity stress fractures: a controlled trial of a shock absorbent insole. Am J Public Health 78(12): 1563-1567.
- 145. Devas MB (1965) Stress Fractures of the femoral neck. The Journal of bone and Joint surgery 47(4): 728-738.
- 146. Egol KA, Koval KJ, Kummer F, Frankel VH (1998) Stress fractures of the femoral neck. Clin Orthop Relat Res (348): 72-78.
- 147. Jones BH, Thacker SB, Gilchrist J, Kimsey CD, Sosin DM (2002) Prevention of lower extremity stress fractures in athletes and soldiers: a systematic review. Epidemiol Rev 24(2): 228-247.
- 148. LaLonde B, Fenton P, Campbell A, Wilson P, Yen D (2010) Immediate weight-bearing in suspected isolated greater trochanter fractures as delineated on MRI. lowa Orthop J 30: 201-204.
- Lubovsky O, Liebergall M, Mattan Y, Weil Y, Mosheiff R (2005) Early diagnosis of occult hip fractures MRI versus CT scan. Injury 36(6): 788-792.
- 150. Gill SK, Smith J, Fox R, Chesser TJ (2013) Investigation of Occult Hip Fractures: The Use of CT and MRI Scientific WorldJournal 2013:830319.
- 151. Khoury JG, Brandser EA, Found EM, Buckwalter JA (1998) Nontraumatic lesser trochanter avulsion: a report of three cases. Iowa Orthop J18: 150-154.
- 152. Phillips CD, Pope TL, Jones JE, Keats TE, MacMillan RH (1988) Nontraumatic avulsion of the lesser trochanter: a pathognomonic sign of metastatic disease? Skeletal Radiol 17(2): 106-110.
- 153. Dhanasekaraprabu TB, Sumit M, Yash ML, Himani S, Rajesh C (2013) Hip Salvaging Surgery in Complicated Aneurysmal Bone Cyst of Proximal Femur Journal of Case Reports.
- 154. Canale ST (2008) Aneurysmal bone cyst within benign tumors of bone. Campbell's Operative Orthopaedics, (11th edn). St Louis, Massouri, USA pp: 868.
- Bullough PG, Vigorita VJ (1997) Aneurysmal bone cyst within benign non-matrix-producing bone tumors. Orthopaedic Pathology, (3rd edn), Mosby-Wolfe, Baltimore, USA pp: 402-424.
- 156. Biau D, Anract P (2007) Fractures sur os pathologique. Appareil locomoteur 14(031): 1-14.
- 157. Abudu A, Sferopoulos NK, Tillman RM, Carter SR, Grimer RJ (1996) The surgical treatment and outcome of pathological fractures in localised osteosarcoma. J Bone Joint Surg Br 78(5): 694-698.
- 158. Scully SP, Ghert MA, Zurakowski D, Thompson RC, Gebhardt

MC (2002) Pathologic fracture in osteosarcoma: prognostic importance and treatment implications. J. Bone Joint Surg Am 84(1): 49-57.

- 159. Hansen BH, Keller J, Laitinen M, Berg P, Skjeldal S, et al. (2004) The Scandinavian Sarcoma Group Skeletal Metastasis Register. Survival after surgery for bone metastases in the pelvis and extremities. Acta Orthop Scand Suppl 75(311): 11-15.
- 160. Fourneau I, Broos P (1998) Pathologic fractures due to metastatic disease. A retrospective study of 160 surgically treated fractures. Acta Chir Belg 98(6): 255-260.
- 161. Gebhart M, Guenier C, Ghanem G, Lejeune F (1993) Surgical treatment of bony metastases of the peripheral skeleton: review of 87 cases. Acta Orthop Belg 59(1): 31-37.
- 162. Manabe J, Kawaguchi N, Matsumoto S, Tanizawa T (2005) Surgical treatment of bone metastasis: indications and outcomes. Int J Clin Oncol 10(2): 103-111.
- 163. Althausen P, Althausen A, Jennings LC, Mankin HJ (1997) Prognostic factors and surgical treatment of osseous metastases secondary to renal cell carcinoma. Cancer 80(6): 1103-1109.
- 164. Jung ST, Ghert MA, Harrelson JM, Scully SP (2003) Treatment of osseous metastases in patients with renal cell carcinoma Clin Orthop Relat Res (409) : 223-231.
- 165. Stojadinovic A, Shoup M, Ghossein RA, Nissan A, Brennan MF, et al. (2002) The role of operations for distantly metastatic well-differentiated thyroid carcinoma. Surgery 131(6): 636-643.
- 166. Frassica DA (2003) General principles of external beam radiation therapy for skeletal metastases. Clin Orthop Relat Res 415: S158-S164.
- 167. Janjan NA (1997) Radiation for bone metastases: conventional techniques and the role of systemic radiopharmaceuticals. Cancer 80(8): 1628-1645.
- 168. Capanna R, Campanacci DA (2001)The treatment of metastases in the appendicular skeleton. J Bone Joint Surg Br 83(4): 471-481.
- 169. Kariv R, Sidi Y, Malnick S, Gur H (1999) Pathologic fractures anemia hypercalcemia and hypocalciuria: an association between celiac disease and hyperparathyroidism. Isr Med Assoc J 1(4): 280-281.
- 170. Helmstedter CS, Goebel M, Zlotecki R, Scarborough MT (2001) Pathologic fractures after surgery and radiation for soft tissue tumors. Clin Orthop Relat Res 389: 165-172.
- 171. Pelker RR, Friedlaender GE (1997) The Nicolas Andry Award-1995. Fracture healing. Radiation induced alterations. Clin Orthop Relat Res 341: 267-282.
- 172. Aasis U, Anas S, Kofi AM, John PK, Joseph ML (2013) Atypical Femoral Fractures: What Do We Know About Them? THE J Bone Joint Surg Am 95(2): e8.

- 173. Allen MR, Burr DB (2007) Three years of alendronate treatment results in similar levels of vertebral microdamage as after one year of treatment. J Bone Miner Res 22(11): 1759-1765.
- 174. Brennan O, Kennedy OD, Lee TC, Rackard SM, O'Brien FJ (2011) Effects of estrogen deficiency and bisphosphonate therapy on osteocyte viability and microdamage accumulation in an ovine model of osteoporosis. J Orthop Res 29(3): 419-424.
- 175. Boskey AL, Spevak L, Weinstein RS (2009) Spectroscopic markers of bone quality in alendronate-treated postmenopausal women. Osteoporos Int 20(5): 793-800.
- 176. Donnelly E, Meredith DS, Nguyen JT, Gladnick BP, Rebolledo BJ, et al. (2012) Reduced cortical bone compositional heterogeneity with bisphosphonate treatment in postmenopausal women with intertrochanteric and subtrochanteric fractures. J Bone Miner Res 27(3): 672-678.
- 177. Shane E, Burr D, Ebeling PR, Abrahamsen B, Adler RA, et al. (2010) Atypical subtrochanteric and diaphyseal femoral fractures: report of a task force of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research. J Bone Miner Res 25(11): 2267-2294.
- 178. Giusti A, Hamdy NA, Papapoulos SE (2010) Atypical fractures of the femur and bisphosphonate therapy: A systematic review of case/case series studies. Bone 47(2): 169-180.
- 179. Lo JC, Huang SY, Lee GA, Khandewal S, Provus J, et al. (2012) Clinical correlates of atypical femoral fracture. Bone 51(1):181-184.
- 180. Feldstein AC, Black D, Perrin N, Rosales AG, Friess D, et al. (2012) Incidence and demography of femur fractures with and without atypical features. J Bone Miner Res 27(5): 977-986.
- 181. Tang WM, Chiu KY, Kwan MF, Ng TP, Yau WP (2005) Sagittal bowing of the distal femur in Chinese patients who require total knee arthroplasty. J Orthop Res 23(1): 41-45.
- 182. Abrahamsen B, Eiken P, Eastell R (2010) Cumulative alendronate dose and the longterm absolute risk of subtrochanteric and diaphyseal femur fractures: a registerbased national cohort analysis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 95(12): 5258-5265.
- Watts NB, Diab DL (2010) Long-term use of bisphosphonates in osteoporosis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 95(4): 1555-1565.
- 184. Dell R, Greene D, Tran D (2012) Stopping bisphosphonate treatment decreases the risk of having a second a typical femur fracture. Read at the Annual Meeting of the American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons, p. 7-11.
- 185. Ettinger B, San Martin J, Crans G, Pavo I (2004) Differential effects of teriparatide on BMD after treatment with raloxifene or alendronate. J Bone Miner Res 19(5): 745-751.